1999

Glauser Storage, L.L.C., a Utah limited liability company; Steven Glauser, an individual; Kristine G. Lofts, an individual; Richard M. Glauser, an individual; Susan G. Larsen, an individual; and Craig K. Glauser, an individual v. Dale T. Smedley, an individual, and Does I-X : Brief of Appellant

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

In late 1978, Defendant Dale T. Smedley (“Smedley”) and Mel and Kathy Glauser (collectively “Glausers”) entered into a oral agreement whereby Glausers would convey to Smedley certain real property known as Melanie Acres, in consideration for which Smedley would provide to Glausers the following consideration: (1) payment of \$2,000 per month to be generated by rent from a storage facility in Davis County (the “Davis County Property”) for the remainder of Glausers individual lives; (2) payment of \$6,000 per year for vacation expenses for Glausers for at least thirteen years; (3) management of the Davis County Property, including maintenance, payment of taxes and collection of rents; (4) conveyance of title to the Davis County Property to Glausers *as security only* for the above payment obligations; and (5) establishment of an escrow account in the amount of \$300,000.00 (the “Escrow Account”) to secure the Smedley’s payment obligations and the payment of a mortgage obligation then securing the Davis County Property. (T. 135-136).

On January 29, 1979, a written Agreement prepared by Glausers' attorney, describing some, but not all of the terms of the oral agreement, was executed by the Glausers and Smedley, at or about the same time that Melanie Acres was conveyed by deed to Smedley, and the Davis County Property was conveyed by deed to Glausers. (T. 140-141) The written Agreement omitted reference to the parties' oral agreement that the conveyance of the Davis County Property to the Glausers would be reversed upon the death of the survivor of the Glausers if the payment obligations had been fulfilled. (Trial Exhibit 1)

By December 4, 1979, Glausers and Smedley had orally amended their agreement to allow Smedley to substitute certain real property in Salmon, Idaho (the "Salmon Property") for the Escrow Account, to secure Smedley's payment obligations under the agreement. At that time, Smedley conveyed a mortgage on the Salmon Property to Glausers. (T. 145-146; Trial Exhibit 4) On March 13, 1980, Smedley supplemented the mortgage with a Warranty Deed, conveying legal title to the Salmon Property to Glausers *as security only* for full performance of Smedley's payment obligations under the agreement. (T. 146-147; Trial Exhibit 5)

On July 19, 1993, Glausers conveyed 24.75 acres of the Salmon Property to Billey Isley, an unrelated third-party, by Quit Claim Deed without Smedley's consent and without payment of any consideration therefore to Smedley. (T. 68-69; Trial Exhibit 12)

During the term of the agreement, Smedley fulfilled some, but not all, of his payment obligations as they were literally set forth in the Agreement. (R. 176-185) Pursuant to

various oral agreements and arrangements made between Glausers and Smedley, Smedley conveyed other parcels of real property (T. 163-166; Trial Exhibits 19 and 34) to, and performed construction labor and material (T. 156-158; Trial Exhibits 36, 37, 38) for, Glausers in substitute performance for the portions of the payment obligations under the Agreement which he had not satisfied.

In the summer of 1994, both Glausers died, and Smedley demanded that Plaintiffs (the heirs of Glausers) reconvey to Smedley the titles to the Davis County Property and the Salmon Property. When Plaintiffs refused to reconvey the Properties, Smedley recorded “Notices of Interest” with the appropriate recorders’ offices, encumbering title to both Properties.

In June 1996, Plaintiffs brought this action to remove the encumbrances and to recover a money judgment against Smedley for the non-payment of some of the obligations in the Agreement. (R. 1) Smedley filed a Counterclaim, seeking reconveyance of the Davis County Property and the Salmon Property, and acknowledgment of the full consideration he had paid to Glausers. (R. 93)

Pursuant to pre-trial Motions in Limine, the Court (1) refused to allow Smedley to introduce any evidence at trial concerning the “security” nature of the Davis County Property conveyance and (2) allowed Plaintiffs to introduce evidence concerning Smedley’s general reputation in the community for truthfulness and voracity .

A bench trial was held before Judge Michael G. Allphin on January 18, 1999. (T. 474) In its Findings, Conclusions, and Judgment, the Court refused to recognize (1) the intent and value of Smedley's substitute payment performances, notwithstanding the fact that the evidence presented by Smedley was uncontested, and (2) the value of the Salmon Property lost to Smedley by way of Glausers' conveyance of the 24.75 acres, notwithstanding the Court's finding that the Salmon Property belonged to Smedley. (Findings are attached hereto as Addendum III) Judgment was entered in favor of Plaintiffs and against Smedley on the breach of contract and quiet title to Davis County Property claims. (R. 442-450) The Court ruled in favor of Smedley on the quiet title claim to the Salmon Property, finding that conveyance to have been made for security purposes. (Findings 31-35; R. 422-423)

Smedley has filed this appeal seeking reversal of the Judgment, remanding the matter with an order that the District Court recognize (1) Smedley's entire agreement with Smedley, (2) the security character of the Davis County Property conveyance, (3) the value of Smedley's substitute performances under the Agreement, and (4) the loss of value to the Salmon Property caused by Glausers partial conveyance thereof.

### **STATEMENT OF MATERIAL FACTS**

Prior to January 29, 1979, Smedley and Melvin D. Glauser ("Mel") had established a long working relationship of almost 30 years, one with another, concerning the

development and/or construction of various real estate projects. (T. 132-133) Virtually all of the projects in which Smedley and Mel D. Glauser worked together were circumscribed and governed by oral agreements and non-written understandings. A regular course of business was established between Smedley and Melvin D. Glauser which did not include formalization of their cooperative efforts into written documentation. (T. 177-178)

In 1978, Smedley and Melvin D. Glauser entered into an oral agreement whereby Smedley would purchase from Glausers certain real property located in Davis County, known as Melanie Acres Subdivision (hereinafter "Melanie Acres"). (T. 136-137) Melanie Acres, reasonably valued at that time at approximately \$165,000.00 was conveyed to Smedley, free and clear of any liens or encumbrances. (T. 134-135) Glausers determined that rather than real estate, they desired an long-term regular income stream as consideration from Smedley for the conveyance of the Davis County Property, which constituted 86 rental storage units. The income stream agreed upon by and between Smedley and Glausers was anticipated to be sufficient to produce a regular monthly payment of \$2,000.00 plus an annual vacation account of \$6,000.00. In order to produce such an income stream, Smedley and Glausers agreed that Smedley would dedicate the Davis County Property to Glausers for the remainder of the life of the last survivor of the Glausers. (T. 136-140)

As of January 29, 1979, the unencumbered value of the Davis County Property was fairly equal to that of Melanie Acres; however, there was a mortgage lien on the property which was equal to its full value. In order to secure Smedley's obligations to provide the

promised income stream, Smedley agreed to undertake the following obligations: (1) convey the Davis County Property to Glausers; (2) manage, maintain and pay for all of the expenses of the Davis County Property; (3) pay and timely satisfy the lien mortgage against the Davis County Property; (4) pay all real estate taxes assessed against the Davis County Property; create the Escrow Account in the amount of \$300,000.00; (5) pay over to Glausers the monthly sum of \$2,000; and (6) establish a vacation account for Glausers into which he would pay the annual sum of \$6,000. (T. 136-137)

In consideration of Smedley's covenants under the agreement, Glausers agreed that (1) when the mortgage lien against the Davis County Property was paid in full and removed as an encumbrance, Glausers would release his claim upon the Escrow Account and (2) when the last survivor of the Glausers died, if Smedley had discharged all of his payment obligations, the Davis County Property would be reconveyed to Smedley. (T. 139, 167)

In connection with the oral agreement, Glausers prepared a written Agreement dated January 29, 1979, which set forth some, but not all, of the terms of the oral agreement, and which was signed by Smedley and Glauser Construction. (Trial Exhibit 1) In accordance with the oral agreement and the Agreement, Glausers conveyed Melanie Acres to Smedley, and Smedley conveyed the Davis County Property Glausers by Warranty Deed on January 29, 1979. (Trial Exhibit 2)

Later in 1979, Smedley and Glausers amended their agreement by substituting the 274 acre Salmon Property as security for Smedley's payment of the mortgage lien on the



Davis County Property, instead of the Escrow Account. (T. 145; Trial Exhibit 4) On or about March 30, 1980 Smedley and his wife conveyed title to the Salmon Property as substitute security for Smedley's obligations. (Trial Exhibit 5) In connection with the conveyance of the Salmon Property and identical to their arrangement concerning the Escrow Account, Smedley and Glausers agreed that upon Smedley's satisfaction of the mortgage lien on the Davis County Property, the Salmon Property would be reconveyed to Smedley free and clear of all liens and encumbrances which were not encumbering the Salmon Property as of March 30, 1980. (T. 147-150) As part of the amendment to the agreement, Smedley agreed to pay all property taxes assessed against the Salmon property.

In 1984, Smedley suffered a heart attack and became temporarily disabled. (T. 175) Between 1984 and 1988, because of his physical disability, Smedley became delinquent in some of the payment obligations under the agreement.

Beginning in 1988, Smedley undertook to cure the defaults in tax and vacation payments of the prior four years by providing materials and services, without charge, for and at the request of Glausers. In 1988, Smedley provided to Glausers certain construction and development improvements to Lakeview Gardens No.4, a 13-lot subdivision (the Lakeview Project") and four lots in Heritage Square No.3 (the "Heritage Project"), both properties owned by Glausers. (T. 156-159) The fair value of Smedley's services and materials on the Projects totalled \$94,626.53. (Trial Exhibits 36, 37, 38)

For the above described services and materials Glausers agreed to credit \$14,486.04, for the payment of all delinquent taxes on the Davis County property, and \$24,000.00 for four years of unfunded vacation account. Glausers agreed to retain the remaining \$56,140.29 as credit to be applied to past and future taxes due on the Salmon Property and the future vacation funding. (T. 160-162)

Additionally, as further compensation and payment for past and future obligations on both the Salmon property and the Davis County property, Smedley conveyed to Glausers three unimproved lots: Smedley Estates Lots 8 and 10 in Salmon, Idaho, conveyed on April 8, 1982; and Cottonwood Unit #3 Lot 309 in Layton, Utah, conveyed on December 19, 1988. (T. 163)

On June 19, 1993, Glausers conveyed to Isley, approximately 24 acres of the Salmon property valued by Lemhi County at \$1,800 per acre, without the consent or approval of Smedley. Smedley received no consideration or share of any proceeds paid by Isley in consideration for the Isley transaction. (T. 68-69)

In the summer of 1994, Glausers both died, having received all of their bargained consideration under the agreement, including \$2,000.00 per month for their lives from 1979 until the death of their last survivor. At the time of their death, Smedley had fulfilled all of his obligations and covenants under the agreement and was entitled to the reconveyance of both the Davis County Property and the Salmon Property. (T. 166-167)

Following Glausers' deaths, Smedley, orally and in writing, requested that Plaintiffs reconvey the Properties. (Trial Exhibits 14 and 15) Plaintiffs refused to reconvey the Properties and, on June 6, 1996, instituted this civil action against Smedley and his family. (R. 1)

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The District court erroneously ruled prior to the commencement of the bench trial herein, that Smedley would be unable to introduce any evidence which would vary, alter or supplement the terms of the written Agreement dated January 29, 1979, concerning the conveyance of the Davis County Property by Smedley to Glausers. That ruling was again reaffirmed during the Trial when Smedley attempted to introduce testimony concerning the security nature of the Davis County Property conveyance. The District Court's error was in its failure to comply with the mandate of *Winegar v. Froerer Corp.*, 813 P.2d 104, 110 (Utah 1991) which requires that a trial court consider eight separate elements when determining whether an absolute deed was intended to be a mortgage notwithstanding the general prohibitions of the parol evidence rule. A careful analysis of the proffered facts of this matter clearly demonstrate that it was the intent of both parties that the conveyance by warranty deed of the Davis County Property was accompanied with an oral understanding that Glausers would hold the deed only as security and reconvey it to Smedley once Smedley's payment obligations were satisfied.

The Court's second error was failing to consider the un rebutted testimony presented on behalf of Smedley to show that substitute payments were provided and accepted by Glauser, fully satisfying previous payment defaults of Smedley in his property tax and vacation funding obligations. There was no contradictory evidence offered to the absolute nature of the conveyances of three separate unimproved lots to Mr. Glauser. Neither was there any disagreement concerning the fact that Smedley provided to Glausers work and materials valued in excess of \$94,000 without reimbursement. Testimony was offered even from the Plaintiffs' themselves to the fact that at least a portion of the substitute payments were intended to have been used to satisfy prior tax payment defaults. The Court's Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law failed to recognize the existence and value of Smedley's substitute performance.

Similarly, notwithstanding the uncontradicted evidence that as naked fee holders of the Salmon Property, Glausers made an unauthorized conveyance of 24 acres of that property to a third party. As a Trustee of the "resultant" trust created by the security conveyance of the Salmon Property, Glausers had a duty to reconvey the entire Salmon Property at such time as Smedley fulfilled his payment obligations. After the death of the Glausers, Plaintiffs as successor trustees, were responsible for that reconveyance. However, in as much as 24 acres had previously been conveyed to Mr. Isley, specific performance of that duty was made impossible. Smedley should be awarded damages or credited for the value of the 24 acres.

The District Court's final prejudicial error was in allowing prejudicial testimony as to Smedley's general reputation for truthfulness and veracity in direct violation of Rule 404(a) of the Utah Rules of Evidence. None of the claims asserted by Glausers included in their elements the issue of Smedley's general honesty or veracity. Inasmuch as those qualities were not directly an issue, Smedley's reputation for truthfulness was irrelevant and should have been excluded.

## **ARGUMENT**

### **I. The District Court erred in excluding all parol evidence concerning the security nature of the Davis County Property Conveyance.**

The heart of Smedley's defense to Plaintiffs' Complaint and basis for his Counterclaim are the factual circumstances surrounding the creation of the original agreement between Glausers and Smedley, which agreement predated the execution of the written Agreement, clarifies an omitted term of the writing, and clearly establishes the intent of the parties to limit the conveyance of the Davis County) Property to one for security purposes only.

On January 12, 1999, two weeks prior to the trial of this matter, Plaintiffs filed a Motion in Limine seeking to prevent Smedley from introducing any "parol evidence of alleged oral agreements seeking to contradict or vary the terms of the 1979 Agreement and Warranty Deed conveying to Glauser the Davis County Property." (R. 264). In the Motion Plaintiffs acknowledge that throughout these proceedings Smedley had consistently asserted

that the parties had agreed that the Davis County Property would be reconveyed to Smedley at the death of the survivor of the Glausers. However, because the written Agreement and the Warranty Deed conveying the Davis County Property make no mention of a reversion, Plaintiffs sought to prevent evidence of the contracting parties' actual intentions. A hearing held on Plaintiffs' Motion on January 19, 1999 (R. 226) at which time counsel for Smedley outlined the nature and purpose of the anticipated testimony. Three days after the hearing, Judge Allphin informed counsel by telephone that he would not allow any such testimony.

During the trial, Plaintiffs independently raised the issue of the actual intentions of the Glausers concerning any revision of the Salmon Property, through the testimony of William Critchlaw (T. 16-17). However when Smedley began to testify concerning the oral agreement of between himself and Mel concerning the eventual reversion of title to Smedley, Plaintiffs objected. The Court ultimately refused any such testimony. (T. 137-139, 226-227).

Smedley's attempt to obtain judicial treatment of a deed as a mortgage is not novel to this matter. "[A] court of equity will treat a deed as a mortgage if it is shown that it was so intended." *Jacobson v. Jacobson*, 557 P.2d 156, 158 (Utah 1976). "In equity, a deed, absolute on its face, may be shown by parol evidence to have been given for security purposes only; and if such showing be made, equity will effect to the intention of the parties." *Kjar v. Brimley*, 497 P.2d 23, 26 (Utah 1972). "Debtors . . . frequently execute absolute deeds of conveyance to creditors with merely an oral understanding that the creditor will hold

the deed only as security and reconvey it to the debtor once the obligation is satisfied.

*Winegar v. Froerer Corp.*, 813 P.2d 104, 110 (Utah 1991).

The Utah State Supreme Court has adopted a list of "elements a court must consider when determining whether an absolute deed was intended as a mortgage." *Winegar, id.*

That list, first announced in *Brown v. Loveland*, 678 P.2d 292, 297 (Utah 1984), includes the following:

1) whether there was a continuing obligation on the part of the grantor to pay a debt or meet an obligation the deed allegedly was made to secure, (2) the question of relative values, (3) contemporaneous and subsequent acts of the parties, (4) the parties' statements, (5) the form of the written evidence of the transactions, (6) the nature of the testimony on which the parties rely, (7) the relationship between the parties, and (8) the apparent aims and purposes of the transfer.

813 P.2d at 110.

In the pre-trial hearing and again during closing argument (T. 293-299), Smedley attempted to convince the Court that an analysis of the facts of this matter would clearly demonstrate that the obvious intentions of Smedley and Glausers in consummating the 1979 conveyance of the Davis County Property to Glausers was to secure Smedley's payment obligations.

First, there was a substantial continuing obligation required of Smedley to Glausers which extended long after the date of the conveyance of the Davis County Property. Glausers admit that Smedley was required to pay \$2,000 per month, \$6,000 per year for

vacations, pay taxes and maintenance on both Davis County and Salmon Properties. (R. 176-181)

Second, a comparison of the relative values of the consideration required by the Agreement to be given by Smedley to Glausers shows a margin of over three to one in favor of the Glausers. In return for the receipt of the undeveloped Melanie Acres, valued at approximately \$165,000, Smedley paid the following:

Monthly Income of \$2,000 (for 15 years)	\$360,000
Vacation Payments (\$6,000 x 9 years)	54,000
Davis County Property	<u>165,000</u>
<u>TOTAL CONSIDERATION:</u>	\$579,000

An approximation of the numbers above were disclosed to the Court in the pre-trial hearing and were also submitted in chart form during closing argument. (T. 295-296; Addendum II attached hereto)

Third, both parties took action regarding the Davis County Property following the conveyance which would be considered consistent with their respective ownership thereof. Both paid property taxes. Smedley maintained and made certain improvements on the Property.

Fourth, Smedley was prepared to introduce evidence from several individuals that Mel Glauser had admitted to them that the Davis County Property conveyance was a temporary one, which would be reversed after the payment of a lifetime income stream. Smedley had

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