1999

Glauser Storage, L.L.C., a Utah Limited Liability Company, dba Mountain View Storage; Steven D. Glauser, an individual; Kristine G. Lofts, an individual; Richard M. Glauser, an individual; Susan G. Larsen, an individual; Craig K. Glauser, an individual v. Dale T. Smedley, an individual; and

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

The Court: Well, Mr. Taylor, given the fact you have opened the door, I will reserve ruling on the objection and allow you to go ahead counsel. (emphasis added).

Mr. Davis: Thank you.

Q[.] Mr. Smedley, I'm sorry. We kind of stepped on your answer. What was discussed between you and Mr. Glauser as to the ultimate disposition of the storage sheds?

A[.] ...It was supposed to be back to Smedleys'....

A[.] They [the storage sheds] would be back to us [Smedleys'].

Upon the conclusion of Smedley's testimony and subsequent testimony by his son, Terry, the trial court upheld its prior ruling that Smedley's parol evidence was inadmissible. (T. 235-236). Thus, the Trial Court did, in fact, conduct a "preliminary consideration" (See e.g., *Ward* 907 P.2d at 268 (citations omitted)) of the parol testimony before determining it was inadmissible. No other testimony or documents tending to establish a contrary intent were offered and refused. No proffers were made. Thus, the Trial saw or heard all evidence sought to be introduced, even if it ultimately ruled some inadmissible.

The trial Court's actions are consistent with the Utah Supreme Court's decisions in *Ward*, 907 P.2d 264 at 268, and *Baker v. Taggart*, 628 P.2d 1283, 1284 (Utah 1981) (claim that deed was a mortgage failed). In its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, the Trial Court ruled that "the 1979 Agreement (Plaintiffs' Exhibit 1) is clear on its face and unambiguous in its terms relating to the parties' intent that Defendant Smedley transfer fee title absolute to the Davis County Storage Sheds to Glauser Construction in exchange for the Glausers' conveyance of fee title to the Melanie Acres Property. The Warranty Deed from the Smedleys to Glauser Construction further evidences the intent that the conveyance of the Davis County Storage Sheds Property to Glauser Construction was an outright conveyance of fee title absolute." (R. 416-417, 431; Exhibits "1" "2" and "33").

Implicit in the Trial Court's findings is a determination that the 1979 Agreement coupled with the Warranty Deed was a final and complete expression of the parties' intent -- an integration. Because Smedley and his son were allowed to testify concerning their

alleged understanding of the parties' intent before the Trial Court's final decision to exclude the parole evidence, its determination is factual and subject to a higher standard of deference than that given a trial court's legal conclusions. *See e.g., Eie v. St. Benedict's Hospital*, 638 P.2d 1190 at 1194 (Utah 1981); *Hall v. Process Instruments and Control*, 890 P.2d 1024, 1028 & FN3 (Utah 1995). Accordingly, the District Court properly excluded Smedley's parole evidence of any alleged oral understandings or verbal agreements construing the 1979 Agreement and Warranty Deed to Glausers as a mortgage and this Court should uphold that determination.

Finally, even if the Trial Court wrongly excluded Smedley's parole evidence, under any analysis, it is harmless error because the "likelihood of a different outcome [is not] sufficiently high to undermine confidence in the verdict.'" *Cal Wadsworth Const. v. City of St. George*, 898 P.2d at 1378-79 (Utah 1995)(citation omitted). Smedley's excluded evidence is part of the record, and even if it were deemed admissible, it falls short of overcoming Smedley's heavy burden.

When a party asserts that a deed is a mortgage because of a parole agreement, he must overcome the presumption that fee title is conveyed by the deed. Utah Code Ann. § 57-1-3. Accordingly, "certain basic rules which give support to the solidarity of deeds create obstacles to [Smedley's] contention." *Jacobson v. Jacobson*, 557 P.2d 156 at 158 (Utah 1976). As stated, the first rule is that a Warranty Deed is "presumed to convey the entire fee simple title." *Id.*

Smedley's second hurdle in attacking the Warranty Deed's conveyance of fee title is his "burden of proving otherwise by clear and convincing evidence." *Id.* The burden of "clinching" in the Court's mind, of leaving no "reasonable doubt" as to the nature of the conveyance, rested squarely on Smedley. To rebut this presumption, "the party claiming that a warranty deed was a mortgage must show by **clear and convincing evidence** that the conveyance was actually intended as a mortgage." *Winegar* 813 P.2d 104, 110 (citations omitted) (emphasis added). "In the absence of such clear and convincing evidence, the presumption is that the instrument of conveyance is what it purports to be. The reason for this presumption is clear: to enhance the security of the title to real property." *Baker v. Taggart*, 628 P.2d 1283, 1284 (Utah 1981) (claim that deed was a mortgage failed) (citations omitted).

In sum, the strength alone of the documentary evidence compels the conclusion that the conveyance was absolute. Moreover, the duplicitous nature of Smedley's claim,¹³ his clear understanding of the difference between an outright conveyance and a security interest, his having read and understood the 1979 Agreement many times prior to signing it¹⁴, his being in a position all along to protect himself, his long delay (15 years) in

¹³See *Jacobson v. Jacobson*, 557 P.2d 156, 158 (Utah 1976) ("[T]he trial court was not compelled to believe the testimony given in their own self interest; particularly so when it showed duplicity.")(claim that warranty deed was really an equitable mortgage failed).

¹⁴In *Barlow Society v. Commercial Security Bank*, 723 P.2d 398, 401 (Utah 1986), the Utah Supreme Court held, "Absent fraud, duress, mistake, or the like attributable to the grantee, a competent grantor will not be permitted to attack or impeach his own deed."

asserting his claim while being in a position to protect himself, and the prejudice resulting from Melvin Glauser's intervening death, require much more convincing evidence than Smedley's own self-interested statements or those of his children. (T. 139, 167 and 235-236)

The Glauser Children, on the other hand, need not offer any rationale or theory justifying the absolute conveyance to Glauser Construction twenty (20) years earlier. The Warranty Deed and 1979 Agreement speak for themselves and are the best evidence of the parties' intent. Accordingly, the Glausers respectfully ask this Court to uphold the Trial Court's Findings and Conclusions regarding the Storage Sheds because the conveyancing terms of the 1979 Agreement and contemporaneous Warranty Deed (Exhibits 1 and 2) are clear, internally consistent, and do not lend themselves to possible second meanings, definitions, or interpretations.

II. The Trial Court Properly Rejected Smedley's Self-Serving Evidence of Alleged Substitute Payments as Insufficient, Unreliable, Inconclusive, Not Sufficiently Linked to the Transactions Claimed, Without any Indicia of Trustworthiness, Prejudicial, Based on Hearsay, Inadmissible under Rules 403 and 601, URE, and Barred by laches

Smedley presented evidence, mostly in the form of self-serving testimony, that certain transfers of lots and some subdivision improvement work in 1988 cured his defaults and satisfied his delinquent obligations under the 1979 Agreement. (R.427, Finding of Fact 45). However, the Trial Court rejected Smedley's self-serving evidence as insufficient, unreliable, inconclusive, not sufficiently linked to the transactions claimed (his defaults), lacking any indicia of trustworthiness, inadmissible under Rules 403 and

601, URE, and because it was based on hearsay, and barred by laches. (R.427-429, 436-438).

On appeal, Smedley wrongly asserts that his evidence was uncontroverted and that the Trial Court erroneously disregarded it. Even though Melvin Glauser is no longer alive to tell his side of the story, the Glausers strongly disagree with Smedley's assertion that his evidence was uncontroverted. See Section II.E., below. Moreover, even assuming, *arguendo*, that Smedley's self-serving testimony was uncontroverted, the Trial Court was not required to believe or accept that evidence. *Homer v. Smith*, 866 P.2d 622, 627 (Utah App. 1993).

A. The Trial Court was Free to Disbelieve Smedley's Self-Serving Testimony Even if Were Uncontroverted

In *Homer*, this Court upheld a Trial Court's rejection of uncontroverted evidence in a prescriptive easement case involving a similar situation:

When acting as the fact-finder, the **trial court is entitled to assess the witnesses and to weigh the evidence** and draw reasonable inferences therefrom.[citations omitted].

. . . .

[The Smiths'] testimony was uncontroverted because the Dewey's were no long alive at the time of trial. In its written findings, however, the trial court stated that the **Smiths' testimony concerning the Deweys was "self-serving and not believable** in view of [the Smiths'] conduct, demeanor and substantive testimony during trial."

. . . . Clearly, the fact-finder is in the best position to judge the credibility of witnesses and is **free to disbelieve their testimony** [citations omitted]. The trial court did just that here, and we give due regard to the court's opportunity to judge the credibility of the witnesses.[emphasis added]

Id.; see also, *Jacobson v. Jacobson*, 557 P.2d 156 at 158 (Utah 1976)("the trial court was not compelled to believe the testimony given in [a party's own] self-interest").

B. The Trial Court Found Smedley's Evidence Unreliable, Untrustworthy, Prejudicial, Based on Hearsay, Inadmissible, and Barred by Laches

Similar to *Homer* and *Jacobson*, the Trial Court was not compelled to believe Smedley's testimony. It held Smedley's evidence concerning the transfer of lots in satisfaction of his defaults was "insufficient and unreliable in support of [his] claims."

(R.427, Finding of Fact 46). The Trial Court appropriately observed,

There is no evidence except Smedley's testimony of oral agreements during Mel Glauser's lifetime; Mel Glauser and Smedley had ongoing business relationships for many, many years, and there is no way to link these particular transactions, but for the oral agreement that Smedley now claims." (*Id.*)

Moreover, concerning Smedley's valuation of the lots, the Court found Smedley's evidence "unreliable and inconclusive. (R.427, Finding of Fact 47).

These flaws could reflect the Trial Court's assessment of Smedley's credibility and demeanor; or simply denote the court was unpersuaded by Smedley's inconsistent and self-serving presentation. Smedley's evidence of work on Heritage Acres and Lakeview Garden Estates allegedly in satisfaction of his defaults was similarly defective:

Smedley's testimony of work performed pursuant to an alleged oral agreement to satisfy his obligations, delinquencies, and defaults [is] inadmissible under Rules 403 and 601 of the Utah Rules of Evidence because **it is based on hearsay, the probative value of the evidence is outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, and the evidence lacks any indicia of trustworthiness.** That evidence is being offered to allegedly

satisfy obligations, delinquencies, and defaults pursuant to an inadmissible oral agreement. (R.437-38, Conclusion of Law 19) [emphasis added]

In addition to his inadmissible oral testimony, Smedley's documentary evidence was fatally defective as well:

In connection with Defendant's Exhibit 38, which is a photocopy of a ledger kept by Mr. Glauser, the Court finds that Mr. Glauser did not total this. It appears that at some point in time perhaps April 15 of 1988, the parties were reviewing their business transaction. Mr. Glauser may have brought this to Mr. Smedley, but there is no way for the Court to determine whether that was the final resolution as it pertained to the development of those lots. It appears from the Court's original exhibit that it was after the fact, it could be Mr. Smedley's, but it appears not to be Mr. Glauser's. It was done in pencil, and the Court has no reason to believe that perhaps there weren't other transactions. There are payments to Mr. Smedley, several on this ledger, but the court has no way to know whether or not there were further payments being made. **Accordingly, the Court finds inadmissible the alleged oral agreement and the evidence that Mr. Smedley is presenting to the court in connection with Defendant's Exhibit 38.** (R.428-29, 438, Finding of Fact 50, Conclusion of Law 21).

Finally, the Trial Court properly determined that Smedley's assertion of an oral agreement that work performed in 1988 satisfied his defaults is barred by laches due to his long delay in making these assertions coupled with the unfair prejudice to the Glausers in attempting to refute his allegations:

[T]he 1988 work Defendant Smedley alleges as satisfaction of his defaults and delinquencies was performed six years prior to Mr. And Mrs. Glauser's passing away, and the Court finds that Smedley's claims of work performed allegedly to satisfy his defaults and obligations should be **barred by laches due to his unreasonable delay and lack of diligence in failing to make any assertions or to memorialize the same with Glauser while he was alive, and the unfair prejudice to Plaintiffs as a result of Smedley's waiting until after the Glausers' deaths to make this assertion.** (R.429, 438, Finding of Fact 51, Conclusion of Law 22)

C. Smedley Fails to Challenge the Trial Court's Conclusions that His Evidence of Substitute Payment Performances Was Inadmissible and Barred by Laches; Instead, He Merely Reargues the Same Evidence

As demonstrated in the previous section, the Trial Court ruled that Smedley's evidence of substitute payment performances was inadmissible because it was grounded on an alleged oral agreement based on hearsay, prejudicial, and lacked any indicia of trustworthiness. That evidence was also barred by laches due to Smedley's long delay in asserting his claims and the resulting prejudice to the Glausers in attempting to respond to contentions only their deceased father could adequately address. (R.427-429 Findings of Fact 45-51; 437-438 Conclusions of Law 17-22). Smedley's brief nowhere challenges the Trial Court's rulings of inadmissibility under Rules 403 and 601, URE, or the hearsay rule; nor does he challenge the Trial Court's ruling barring evidence of substitute payment performance related to Heritage Acres and Lakeview Garden Estates in 1988 under the doctrine of laches.

Instead, Smedley inappropriately reargues his same evidence on appeal. However, because the Trial Court found Smedley's evidence inadmissible or rejected it for other reasons, his efforts to reargue the same evidence must be rejected once again.

D. Smedley Has Failed to Marshall the Evidence in Support of the Trial Court's Findings

Cursory review of Smedley's brief reveals he has entirely failed to meet his obligation to marshal the evidence¹⁵ in support of the Trial Court's findings. (*Appellant's*

¹⁵See Issue II, Standard of Review, *supra*.

Brief at Section II, pp. 19-22). Instead, he simply reargues his evidence, most of which the Trial Court ruled was either inadmissible or unreliable, and contends both that it wasn't directly controverted and that the Trial Court was obligated to accept it. Both contentions are wrong.

As shown in Section E, below, there was ample evidence that indirectly contradicted the oral agreements Smedley alleges satisfied his defaulted obligations under the 1979 Agreement. And, as already demonstrated in Section II.A., above, the Trial Court was not obligated to believe or accept Smedley's self-serving testimony of oral agreements. However, even in the absence of those defects, Smedley failed to marshal the evidence supporting the Trial Court's findings, and this Court should, therefore, uphold the Trial Court's findings:

When an appellant fails to meet the "heavy burden" of marshaling the evidence (citation omitted) we "'assume[] that the record supports the findings of the trial court,'" (citation omitted). **Here Mr. Moon simply reargued his own evidence. Accordingly, because Mr. Moon has failed to marshal the evidence supporting the trial court's findings and then to show that the findings are unsupported, we affirm the trial court's construction of the ambiguous alimony provisions of the divorce decree.** (Emphasis added). *Moon v. Moon*, 973 P.2d 431 at 437 (Utah App. 1999).

Smedley simply reargues his same facts. He cannot idly assert that Glausers presented no contradictory evidence, which thus eliminated his duty to marshal. The Court's findings rejected his evidence as either inadmissible, unreliable, or barred by laches. Evidence supporting those findings is what Smedley was required to marshal. Alternatively, if there is no duty to marshal, it is only because Smedley has not adequately challenged

those findings on appeal. Figuratively speaking, Smedley's appeal attempts to focus the issues on the color of the bricks, when the Trial Court bulldozed the foundation of his building.

E. Substantial Evidence Supports the Trial Court's Rejection of Smedley's Self-Serving Evidence

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